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Standing Committee on Public Accounts
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● (1010)

[Translation]
The Chair (Mr. John Williamson (New Brunswick South‐

west, CPC)): I call this meeting to order.

Welcome to meeting number 135 of the House of Commons
Standing Committee on Public Accounts.
[English]

Today's meeting is taking place in a hybrid format pursuant to
the Standing Orders. Members are attending in person in the room
and remotely using the Zoom application.

I would like to ask all members and other in-person participants
to consult the cards on the table for guidelines to prevent any audio
feedback.
[Translation]

Please keep in mind the preventive measures in place to protect
the health and safety of all participants, including interpreters.
[English]

Use only a black approved earpiece. Please keep your earpiece
away from the microphones at all times. When you're not using
your earpiece, please place it face down on the sticker on your
desk. Just as a reminder, all comments should be addressed through
the chair.
[Translation]

Pursuant to Standing Order 108(3)(g), the committee is resuming
consideration of the Auditor General's report 1, 2024, entitled “Ar‐
riveCAN”, which was referred to the committee on Monday, Febru‐
ary 12, 2024.
[English]

I would now like to welcome our two witnesses from the Office
of the Conflict of Interest and Ethics Commissioner.

Konrad von Finckenstein, commissioner, it's good to see you
here today, sir.

Michael Aquilino, legal counsel, it's good to see you here as
well.

Commissioner, you have a maximum of five minutes for your
opening remarks, after which we will turn to our round of ques‐
tions.

It's over to you, please.

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein (Commissioner, Office of the
Conflict of Interest and Ethics Commissioner): Thank you for
inviting me to discuss the Auditor General's report on ArriveCAN.
As you mentioned, with me is my colleague Michael Aquilino, le‐
gal counsel at our office.

[Translation]

As Conflict of Interest and Ethics Commissioner, my role is to
help elected and appointed public officials manage conflicts of in‐
terest. We administer the Conflict of Interest Act for appointed offi‐
cials like ministers, their staff, heads of Crown corporations, deputy
ministers and members of various boards and tribunals. As you
know, we also administer the Conflict of Interest Code for Mem‐
bers of the House of Commons.

[English]

Under the act, when reporting public office holders are first ap‐
pointed, we gather information about what they own, what they
owe and what they do. This helps us to see whether they have con‐
flicts of interest and to advise them on how to manage or avoid
them. This could include setting up conflict of interest screens or
putting assets in a blind trust.

[Translation]

Throughout their time as public office holders, we receive up‐
dates from them and review their information. We give them ongo‐
ing confidential advice and guidance on questions like accepting
gifts, when to step back or recuse themselves from discussions and
the rules that will follow them after they leave office. Under the
code, we go through a similar process with members. It is some‐
thing you are all familiar with.

All publicly shareable information about reporting public office
holders and members is available on our website's public registry.

[English]

Under both the act and the code, we focus on private interests
that might affect financial or business decisions for personal gain.
Essentially, the main purposes of our work are, first, to help elected
and appointed officials recognize and manage conflicts of interest,
and second, to facilitate the movement of qualified people in and
out of the public service without issue.
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Regarding the current issue of ArriveCAN, I understand that
there are ongoing investigations by other organizations. To our
knowledge, no persons subject to the act or the code were involved
in this matter. Hence, we have no jurisdiction and I have no com‐
ments to make on that.
[Translation]

I am happy to answer your questions.
The Chair: Thank you very much.

[English]

I'll turn now to Mr. Genuis.

You have the floor for six minutes, please.
Mr. Garnett Genuis (Sherwood Park—Fort Saskatchewan,

CPC): Thank you, Chair.

I want to thank the commissioner for being here. I look forward
to asking him some questions very shortly.

As members know, we do have some unfinished business on the
ArriveCAN issue from yesterday that I'd like to propose we quickly
wrap up. I have sent a revised motion to the chair that builds on our
work yesterday but incorporates feedback from other parties, which
I hope will be able to facilitate us moving forward quickly.

If the clerk can distribute that motion now, I will read it as I
move it.

The Chair: Mr. Genuis, you sent that to the clerk, not to the
chair. I just wanted to correct that for the record.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Yes.
The Chair: Now that you're speaking to it, the clerk will send

that out.
Mr. Garnett Genuis: Mr. Clerk, it was labelled “V3” in the

email, because I know I had some further thoughts after I initially....

The motion is that—
The Chair: Just one second, Mr. Genuis.

Mr. von Finckenstein, we're going to debate a motion for a few
minutes here. If you could stand down during this, we'll get back to
you very, very soon, I hope. We had a discussion on this yesterday.
There is some agreement but not universal agreement, so we might
have a debate around this. I'll try to wrap it up as quickly as possi‐
ble and come back to you. In the meantime, if you do want to stand
up and walk around, that's fine. You're not required to remain in
your seat by any means. It's at your discretion. We will come back
to you, and I'll give you plenty of notice on that.

Mr. Genuis, you have the floor, please.
● (1015)

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Thank you.

I spoke to the motion yesterday, but I'll just read it out and articu‐
late some of the differences with the new motion. The new motion
is as follows:

In light of testimony and evidence provided by Diane Daly, the committee order
the production from the government of the recording which Ms. Daly referenced
in her testimony of her 3.5 hour interview with CBSA, and call the following
people to appear before the committee on ArriveCan and particularly to respond

to the new information Ms. Daly has presented: Lysane Bolduc, Tom von
Schoenberg, Arianne Reza, Erin O’Gorman, and additional officials and experts
with knowledge of TBIPS; further, that the committee write to Kristian Firth and
ask him to provide information and evidence supporting his claims at the bar of
the House regarding Diane Daly, including the time, location, and names of oth‐
er participants at the alleged meetings with her, and that he respond to the com‐
mittee’s request for information by Labour Day.

With regard to the changes that were made, I think one Liberal
member raised a concern earlier about it not being clear which
recording was being referred to. I thought it was clear from the tes‐
timony, but I added a bit more information to clarify which record‐
ing we're seeking.

Mr. Desjarlais made a very good suggestion about having offi‐
cials who can speak to TBIPS. I thought that was a good sugges‐
tion, so I added that in.

Ms. Sinclair-Desgagné suggested that we not invite Kristian
Firth. I have proposed instead that we simply ask Mr. Firth to send
us follow-up information as evidence. We would not be calling Mr.
Firth. We would just be sending a request to him to respond in writ‐
ing to the committee, responding to Ms. Daly's testimony and his
comments on April 17, and inviting him to provide some additional
evidence to support his version of events.

Rather than having a flurry of amendments—I mean, people are
welcome to propose amendments, of course—I thought I would try
to speed up the process a little bit by incorporating the feedback we
have received from various parties. The principle of following up
on Ms. Daly's really groundbreaking testimony yesterday, to be
able to more effectively assess her claims and put questions to oth‐
ers about that testimony, I think is clearly important.

I got the sense that there was majority support for the principles
of my motion. Hopefully, with these modifications we'll be able to
get it done quickly and get back to speaking with the Ethics Com‐
missioner.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Genuis.

I have a speaking list already.

Yes, Ms. Shanahan.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan (Châteauguay—Lacolle, Lib.): I have
a point of order.

The Chair: Go ahead.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: We're dealing with substantially an en‐
tirely new motion. Can we suspend so that we can look at this?

The Chair: Sure. I think we all heard Mr. Genuis speak to his
proposed new wording. What are you thinking—five minutes, 10
minutes?

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Ten minutes is good.

The Chair: I'll tell you what, let's start with five. We'll make it
five to 10 minutes, but I'll look to you for a nod. If we seem to be
coming to some agreement and resolution, we'll come back.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Very good.
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The Chair: Obviously, If there's a deadlock, we'll have to deal
with that as well.

I'll suspend for five to 10 minutes.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Thank you very much.
● (1015)

_____________________(Pause)_____________________

● (1025)

The Chair: I call the committee meeting back to order for the
purposes of discussing this motion. It means that our witnesses can
still stand down.

Mr. Desjarlais, you are first on my speaking list. I have Ms.
Khalid after that and then Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné.

Mr. Desjarlais, you have the floor.
Mr. Blake Desjarlais (Edmonton Griesbach, NDP): Thank

you very much, Mr. Chair.

I'm happy to see that there have been amendments to the motion
to include an amendment that I had sent to the clerk in relation to
strengthening the original motion to include the officials of the
TBIPS program. As members of our committee know, Ms. Daly did
provide good testimony and recommendations as to the source of
some of these issues. TBIPS in particular is something that we
haven't necessarily looked at in terms of how qualifying consultants
like GC Strategies could have ended up on a list that would have
preferred them for certain contracts. I think that's a pretty serious
issue that requires investigation. It's the reason I'm glad to see that
we were able to include that.

I want to thank Mr. Genuis for including that. I will happily with‐
draw the amendment that I submitted to the clerk, as I see that the
requirement has been satisfied here.

Thank you very much.
The Chair: Thank you.

Ms. Khalid, would you like the floor? No? Okay.
[Translation]

Ms. Sinclair‑Desgagné, you have the floor.
Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné (Terrebonne, BQ): It will be

very brief.

I thank Mr. Genuis for making the changes we suggested to him
yesterday and including Mr. Desjarlais' amendment, which I think
is very important. Basically, our real concern is not to engage in a
witch hunt, but rather to improve the federal government as much
as possible, while waiting for Quebec to be removed from it, of
course. In the meantime, we need to improve and overhaul the pro‐
curement system for task-based informatics professional services,
or TBIPS, because there are glaring issues there. Next, if we send a
letter to Mr. Firth, I feel we stand a better chance of getting answers
regarding Ms. Daly's testimony, which contradicts Mr. Firth's.

So we will be supporting this motion as it stands.
The Chair: Thank you very much.

[English]

Go ahead, Ms. Shanahan.
Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Thank you very much, Chair.

We appreciate that we had a chance to look over the revisions
that were done to the motion, but the essential problem with the
motion is still there, which is that listening to a recording that was
recorded unknowingly to other third parties and is part of a private
investigation being duly undertaken by the proper authorities risks
potentially sabotaging and compromising that investigation. I know
that we have experienced members on this committee who are very,
very much aware of this.

Again, Chair, this is public accounts, where we pride ourselves
on being objective, on doing that oversight and on making sure that
other people are doing their jobs. I do question why we are going
after this. It's a three and a half hour recording, if I'm correct. I'm
also wondering just how that recording will be shared with the
committee, whether we'll sit and listen to it for three and a half
hours or we'll have a transcript or however it will be.

I just want it on the record that, unfortunately, once again we
have members of Parliament seeking to duplicate and possibly
compromise work that is being done by other duly authorized in‐
vestigators.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

Clerk, could you please call the vote on this.

(Motion agreed to [See Minutes of Proceedings])

The Chair: Thank you all very much.

I'll now return to our witnesses, who both appear to be ready. I
thank them both for their patience.

I'm looking at the time on the clock. I believe we go to Mr. Bar‐
rett.

● (1030)

Mr. Michael Barrett (Leeds—Grenville—Thousand Islands
and Rideau Lakes, CPC): I think it's Mr. Genuis.

The Chair: Mr. Genuis, is it back to you, or is it over to your
colleague?

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Yes, it's back to me.
The Chair: Pardon me.

We'll go back to Mr. Genuis.

Ms. Khalid, is this a point of order?
Ms. Iqra Khalid (Mississauga—Erin Mills, Lib.): Mr. Chair,

this is just a point of clarification. My understanding is that, accord‐
ing to the Standing Orders, once somebody moves a motion, it
passes to the next speaker in line. I just wanted to confirm that. I'm
not 100% sure.

The Chair: I'll check on that. It has not been the practice of the
committee, but I'll check with the clerk on that one.
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I'm informed that it's not in the Standing Orders. It is at the
chair's discretion, and my practice has been, for all members from
all parties, to suspend the clock when we move into a debate and
then return to that once the debate has concluded.

Mr. Genuis, you do have five minutes and 30 seconds now. The
floor is yours.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Thank you, Chair.

This is just to say, first of all, I'm very glad to see that motion
passed. I will say Ms. Shanahan's comments are totally incorrect,
and I think they ignore Ms. Daly's testimony. She made very seri‐
ous allegations about intimidation of her as part of an internal gov‐
ernment process, a process that clearly is compromised and subject
to criticism. After hearing those two hours of testimony, for Ms.
Shanahan to say that we should just trust the internal process
doesn't make much sense to me.

We're parliamentarians. Our job is to hold government account‐
able, and that's what the passage of this motion, which clearly had
the support of the opposition and, in the end, passed unanimously,
allows us to do: get to the bottom of what happened.

To the Ethics Commissioner, thank you very much again for be‐
ing here.

Clearly, there are major ethical issues involved in the arrive scam
scandal. You've talked about your jurisdiction and that it is applying
to certain people and not others. I just want to dig into that.

Some of the facts we have heard at this committee, as well as at
the government operations committee, are serious allegations about
Minh Doan deleting emails, as well as a conflict of interest issue in‐
volving Mr. David Yeo, who was a contractor while he was work‐
ing for the government. He was essentially double dipping.

We have dug further into that. We have looked for further infor‐
mation about this practice of people double dipping as government
employees and as contractors. We put forward a motion calling for
the end of this double dipping and it passed with the support of all
opposition parties, although Liberals opposed that.

Could you help us understand whether or not these issues involv‐
ing David Yeo and the double-dipping questions, as well as the
deletion of emails allegations involving Minh Doan, would fall un‐
der your jurisdiction to deal with, and why or why not?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: No, they do not fall under my
jurisdiction.

Basically, my jurisdiction is to deal with issues of conflict of in‐
terest by elected officials like yourself or by people who are what
the act calls reporting public office holders, who are basically peo‐
ple appointed by Governor in Council and have senior positions.

In this case, none of the people you mentioned fall under either
category.

There are obviously other institutions that deal with this, primari‐
ly the Commissioner of Public Sector Integrity, and there are provi‐
sions under the Public Service Employment Act, etc.

These activities, like double dipping, etc., are clearly not ethical
and should be pursued, but they're not part of my mandate.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Thank you.

On the double-dipping front, you said it is “clearly not ethical”,
but it only triggers your involvement depending on what level.

If we had a case where a member of Parliament or a very senior
public servant was involved in this double dipping and they owned
a company that was bidding on government contracts at their own
department even, perhaps, while they were also holding this posi‐
tion, that would trigger your involvement. However, it's not a ques‐
tion of the activity itself. It's a question of the level of the person
who is doing that activity. Is that correct?

● (1035)

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: I can only deal with issues that
involve senior public servants appointed by order in council or
elected members of the House of Commons.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Thank you.

I guess a way of getting at this issue would be to ask a hypotheti‐
cal. If you had a senior public servant or a member of Parliament
who owned a company that was bidding on government contracts,
presumably you would have concerns about that. Is that right, or
would you? I don't want to put words in your mouth. How would
you respond to that?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: First of all, that senior public
servant in your hypothetical would have to disclose all of this in his
report when he's appointed or, if it happens during his tenure, when
he acquires it. We would deal with, then, whether this creates a con‐
flict or not, and what the remedies are. Do you have to get rid of the
company? Do you have to put it in a public trust, in a blind trust or
whatever? Second, a member of the House of Commons can ask
me to investigate.

In either case, I would look at it. If I find out there are reasonable
grounds for there being a breach of the act, then I will launch an
investigation. If I come across something that is criminal or poten‐
tially criminal, I have to refer it to the RCMP and cease my activity
so that the criminal aspect, if there is any, can be resolved.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: In the last 10 seconds I have, sir, in com‐
paring your description of what would be appropriate to what hap‐
pened with, for instance, David Yeo, it's clear that, based on your
expertise, there are serious ethical problems because there was a
lack of disclosure in the case of David Yeo. Again, it's not within
your jurisdiction to investigate him specifically, but I think the in‐
formation you're providing about what would be considered ethical
or not in the case of people you would investigate is very helpful in
the area of double dipping.

Thank you for that testimony.

The Chair: Mr. von Finckenstein, could you either move your
microphone forward or stand back a little bit? Your proximity is
creating a little bit of feedback, which is difficult for the inter‐
preters. Maybe say a few words so that we can double-check it.
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Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Is this better? Can you hear me
clearly now?

The Chair: I'm getting a thumbs-up.

Thank you very much, Commissioner.
Mr. Garnett Genuis: I have 10 minutes left. Is that right?
The Chair: No, you don't.

Mr. von Finckenstein, do you have any comments for Mr.
Genuis?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: No. I answered his question, I
believe.

The Chair: I didn't think there was a question there as well. I
just wanted to double-check with you.

Ms. Yip, you have the floor for six minutes, please.
Ms. Jean Yip (Scarborough—Agincourt, Lib.): Thank you,

Chair.

I'd like to thank the witnesses for coming today and for their pa‐
tience while we dealt with the motion.

For Canadians at home, Commissioner, what is the role of an
ethics commissioner?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: As I mentioned, the title is Con‐
flict of Interest and Ethics Commissioner. It really is primarily to
deal with conflicts of interest. Obviously, when you do that, you
look at ethical considerations.

The main thing is to make the act quite clearly provides that peo‐
ple who are in an elected position in the House of Commons, or
people under the code or under the act, if you're an appointed offi‐
cial to a senior public service commission, you have to behave ethi‐
cally. You can't further your own interests, the interests of your
friends or of your family, etc., or you can't use your job in a way to
favour somebody. That's what I concentrate on.

The way this system works is that, in effect, at the beginning of
your appointment, you make a report. We look at it and say that
there is a problem here or there is a problem there, and we suggest
ways it can be remedied. Then, throughout the tenure, the person
annually makes an update of that report.

Our job, as I mentioned many times before, is to ensure that the
best talent can come into the public service and can go out. If you
are talented, you will have conflicts. There's no doubt about it. The
question is how to manage this. My job there is to manage it and to
try to avoid conflicts.

In instances where there is behaviour that seems to be suspicious
and that gives reasonable grounds for an investigation, I can either
do it on my own initiative or do it if requested by a member of Par‐
liament.
● (1040)

Ms. Jean Yip: Is your office part of the House of Commons or
of the government?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Yes. I report to the Speaker of
the House. My office is part of the House of Commons and is sub‐
ject to the rules of the House of Commons.

Ms. Jean Yip: Are you an independent officer of the House of
Commons?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Yes.

Ms. Jean Yip: Perhaps you could elaborate on that.

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: When you look at the act and
the code, basically they give a huge amount of discretion to the
commissioner to decide what a conflict is, what the behaviour is
that can be permitted or what the remedies are that should be ap‐
plied. If the person to whom I give these directions refuses to do it
or thinks they have an issue with it and I am wrong, then they can
go to the Federal Court and ask for a judicial review of the deci‐
sion. Other than that, nobody has the ability to tell me how to de‐
cide or to criticize or to ask me to take back a decision or anything.
I'm completely independent, but I report, publicly, everything I do
to the Speaker of the House of Commons. Of course, I publish an
annual report.

Ms. Jean Yip: Thanks for making that clear.

Have you opened an investigation into the ArriveCAN procure‐
ment?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: No, I have not, because as I
have just told your colleague, I have no jurisdiction.

My jurisdiction is over people who have been appointed by an
order in council and are what the act calls reporting public office
holders. None of the people involved so far who have been men‐
tioned in either the AG's report or the public proceedings before
you qualify as reporting public office holders. I have no jurisdiction
to look into it and investigate.

Ms. Jean Yip: You do not have any reason to believe that any
member of Parliament, minister or their staff has violated the Con‐
flict of Interest Act or code through this procurement.

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Indeed, that's exactly it. Nobody
has furnished any evidence or pointed out anything that would
seem to involve what the act calls a reporting public office holder.

Ms. Jean Yip: Do you believe that any member of the Liberal
government has personally benefited from the selection of any Ar‐
riveCAN contractor?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: It's not a question of what I be‐
lieve or don't believe. I deal with evidence. I have to look at a situa‐
tion and find on the basis of evidence whether there has been a vio‐
lation of the act or not.

As I say, so far, I don't have any jurisdiction. If I had jurisdiction,
then I would have to look at the facts presented and decide whether
there are reasonable grounds to make an investigation. If so, I
would do an investigation. But that's very far away from where we
are right now.

Ms. Jean Yip: Just to be clear, there's no investigation into this
because you don't believe anyone has violated the act or the code.
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Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: There's no investigation because
I don't have jurisdiction. My jurisdiction depends on people who
are reporting public office holders. There's no evidence, no referral,
to any public office holder who has been involved in this. Hence, I
cannot investigate. I have no jurisdiction to do anything. If and
when such evidence emerges, then I have to decide whether it war‐
rants an investigation or not.

Ms. Jean Yip: Is that the threshold that needs to be met for your
office to open an investigation?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: First of all, I have to have juris‐
diction. That's number one. Then the act says there must be reason‐
able grounds for me to believe that an investigation is required.
[Translation]

The Chair: Thank you very much.

Ms. Sinclair‑Desgagné, you have the floor for six minutes.
Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Good morning, Commission‐

er. Thank you for being with us today. I will begin my questions by
reminding everyone that you play a key role.

It's not necessarily illegal to show a lack of ethics. The most im‐
portant part of your role is determining what's ethical and what's
not. Conflict of interest is particularly fascinating, because while
some behaviour might not necessarily be illegal, it's clearly ethical‐
ly questionable.

My first question for you is: The most common conflict of inter‐
est [Technical difficulty—Editor]—
● (1045)

The Chair: Just a moment, Ms. Sinclair‑Desgagné. We lost the
signal for a few seconds. Could you repeat your question, please?

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Yes, of course.

When we talk about conflicts of interest, we often think of finan‐
cial ones. For example, there may be a conflict of interest when
someone owns a business and is elected or appointed by the gov‐
ernment at the same time. However, are all conflicts of interest nec‐
essarily financial in nature?

For example, if a senior official appointed by the government
covets a position and their appointment to that position depends on
the office running smoothly, there could be a conflict of interest
that's not necessarily financial in nature, isn't that right?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Conflict of interest can be non-
financial in nature. Conflict of interest is defined as follows:

For the purposes of this Act, a public office holder is in a conflict of interest
when he or she exercises an official power, duty or function that provides an op‐
portunity to further his or her private interests or those of his or her relatives or
friends or to improperly further another person’s private interests.

So it's a very tightly phrased definition. We're not talking about
ethics in general. It specifically refers to actions taken by a public
office holder to further their private interests or those of a relative,
friend or other person.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Okay.

You mentioned at the outset that you look at appointed officials.
Does that include heads of agencies and deputy ministers who are
appointed by the government?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Yes, they're included.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: So hypothetically speaking,
there could be a conflict of interest when a deputy minister, for ex‐
ample, could be relieved of their duties if they don't make sure that
something like the ArriveCAN affair isn't resolved or shelved.
Would that be a form of conflict of interest?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: It would depend on the facts, on
the intent behind the deputy minister's actions and how they bene‐
fited from them. Generally, in such situations, we're talking about
pressure, retaliation or other types of behaviour in the public ser‐
vice. That doesn't fall under my jurisdiction, that would go to the
public sector integrity commissioner. She handles those things. If
you could draw a connection between the actions you're describing
and how they have furthered the deputy minister's private interests,
then I would be involved.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: We heard some pretty disturb‐
ing testimony yesterday. I really don't want to side with the witness‐
es, but they named a deputy minister who would have been better
off if only one version of the ArriveCAN story had been told and if
the whole thing had blown over. Perhaps the public sector integrity
commissioner should be looking into this, but is it a conflict of in‐
terest or a lack of professional integrity? It might fall somewhere in
between the two.

Who deals with ethics or conflict of interest among public ser‐
vants who are not appointed or elected?

● (1050)

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: I believe it's the public sector
integrity commissioner, but it would depend on the facts. The pub‐
lic service can also play a role. If there's no conflict of interest, it's
not under my jurisdiction.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Mr. Chair, how much time do
I have left?

The Chair: Your time is up.

[English]

Mr. Desjarlais, you have the floor for six minutes, please.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

I want to thank the commissioner and the legal counsel represen‐
tative for being with us today.

You've already answered many of the questions that were posed
in relation to ArriveCAN. They've been, largely, comments about it
being out of your jurisdiction.

Is that a fair summation?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Yes.

What happens there, I in no way condone it or think it's minimal
or anything like that; it's just not part of my jurisdiction.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: I understand that.
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For those purposes, I want to turn to a particular ethical issue in
Canada at the moment and which I think was also highlighted in the
ArriveCAN issue. It's indigenous procurement. Adjacent to indige‐
nous procurement are the serious issues of quote-unquote pretendi‐
anism, where officials and even members of Parliament and other
elected officials across the country are claiming to be indigenous
for the purposes of trying to benefit in some way, shape or form
from doing that. As an indigenous member of Parliament myself,
I'm troubled by what has been a consistent and ongoing effort to
use indigenous identity as a tool. It is deeply troubling for indige‐
nous nations across the country, including my own and many others
that we work with. It's really troubling to know that this is happen‐
ing.

It seems to me as though it could fall within your mandate in the
future for us to have a way for us to combat pretendianism. It is be‐
ing used by public officials and it is being used by members of Par‐
liament at times in order to deflect or to even protect themselves
from claims of very legitimate racism. It's a concern to me and I
think it's a concern to the public.

We've seen it in the last few years, for example, with very high-
ranking or high-profile persons in Canada and across the United
States. We had to get giant news agencies to investigate whether or
not they were truly indigenous. They found out that they weren't,
after decades and decades of benefiting from identity fraud. In
Canada there was even a severe case of two students attempting to
identify themselves as indigenous for the purposes of getting bene‐
fits there. It's a growing concern.

I hope you can understand, Commissioner, indigenous people's
very legitimate fear of identity fraud. This is something that I think
requires more thought, more investigation and more understanding.
It also requires co-operation with indigenous nations towards a way
or a program or process to verify when officials are in fact using
identity as a weapon or as a tool of fraud in order to advance them‐
selves.

Is this something that concerns you at all, particularly within the
ethics and conflict of interest laws?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Yes, of course it's of great con‐
cern. It's something that needs to be addressed and dealt with. Un‐
fortunately, it does not fall under my jurisdiction.

You used the term “identity fraud”. If it truly is fraud, then it be‐
comes a criminal offence. If it's just misrepresentation of some‐
thing, it may not amount to criminal, but it still should not be al‐
lowed. To my knowledge, no specific program addresses it as such.
It is part of the general ethics of procurement and trying to make
sure that people play by the rules. I'm not a procurement expert. I
don't know to what extent the verification process needs to be tight‐
ened or needs to be improved or not.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: I heard you respond to one of my col‐
leagues about a framework of understanding that you come to in
identifying a conflict of interest. I think you attributed it to, if I'm
saying this fairly, a claim and an action that could in fact put them
into a position where they would unduly benefit.

Could you please describe again what is a conflict of interest, in
particular with the angle of seeing it as using indigenous identity in

even the act of fraud, which is a criminal offence, but also in the act
of conflict of interest? Could that be something within your
purview or within the framework that you understand as a conflict
of interest?

● (1055)

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: You know, it all depends on the
definition of “conflict of interest”. As I pointed out to your col‐
league, it has to be an action where they exercise “an official pow‐
er, duty or function that provides an opportunity to further his or
her private interests or those of his or her relatives or friends or to
improperly further another person’s private interests”.

Given the situation you posit, involving somebody impersonating
being indigenous when he is not and therefore getting the contract,
it is the action of that person. It's not necessarily the action of the
person who gives them the contract. Therefore, I don't quite see
how conflict of interest applies. It is clearly an action that should
not be allowed and that should be prevented or prosecuted, but it
doesn't really fit into the whole concept of conflict of interest.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Beyond the concept of conflict of interest,
your office deals with issues of ethics. As far as your understanding
of the process of identifying an ethical issue is concerned, I believe
this to be an ethical issue. Falsely identifying as indigenous for the
political, personal and private benefit of attempting to displace
one's own racist actions, for example, or one's own perceived racist
actions in order to deflect or even to benefit from what could be a
very racist claim but is negated because of a claim of being indige‐
nous is something that exists in the political world.

In terms of your standards of ethics and understanding of ethics,
does that breach or broach any kind of responsibility or effort that
your office can undertake to better prevent that from happening?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Let's start with the beginning of
your question. You said that we administer ethics. We do not. We
administer conflicts of interest. In doing so, we follow ethical prin‐
ciples.

Although the title of the office is Conflict of Interest and Ethics
Commissioner, there's not a single provision that uses the word
“ethics” or deals with ethics. It is sort of the subtext through all that
we do.

Why are we doing this? It's to make sure people have confidence
in the Canadian government and that it's done ethically. However,
we don't have any specific activity mandated to look at ethics itself.

There are all sorts of other government institutions...it really isn't
part of our job.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: What institution would you recom‐
mend—

The Chair: Mr. Desjarlais, I'm afraid that we've exceeded the
time. We'll come back to you, certainly.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Thank you.
The Chair: We're coming to the start of the second round.

Mr. Barrett, you have the floor for five minutes.
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Mr. Michael Barrett: Commissioner, I want to clear this up for
Liberal members who, unsurprisingly, don't seem to know what it is
that you do here.

Can you please confirm that you do not have jurisdiction or man‐
date over the arrive scam scandal?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: I do not, as I mentioned in my
opening remarks.

My jurisdiction only extends to reporting public office holders.
Those are senior public servants who have been appointed by order
in council, to put it in common language.

Mr. Michael Barrett: For the people who do fall under your
mandate, lavish dinners and whiskey tastings being given to those
individuals by suppliers or involved parties would fall under your
mandate and trigger an investigation.

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: If it triggers an investigation or
not depends on the specific facts.

Clearly, the conduct of reporting public office holders with sup‐
pliers, customers or something like this, etc., depending on what the
situation is and what happens, would be subject to the act and could
lead to an investigation.

Mr. Michael Barrett: Of course.

It seems like there was an attempt, with you having been sug‐
gested as a witness, for this to be an opportunity for the government
to exonerate itself from the wrongdoing that's occurred in this $60-
million scandal, but of course they summoned the wrong officer of
Parliament to offer that exoneration—if it were available.

I have a question for you, Commissioner, about Ms. Annette Ver‐
schuren, who was the Liberal-appointed chair of Sustainable Devel‐
opment Technology Canada. That's the billion-dollar green slush
fund.

Why was she subject to the Conflict of Interest Act?
● (1100)

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: She was the chairman of the
SDTC. As such, she was appointed by the Governor in Council, so
she was subject to the Conflict of Interest Act. She declared her
conflicts and she went through the rules when she was appointed,
letting us know what her interests are. We appointed a counsellor,
as we call them, to her to make sure that her affairs would all be in
such a way that there wouldn't be a conflict of interest.

Mr. Michael Barrett: Who was the head of government at the
time that she was appointed?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Do you know, Michael?
Mr. Michael Aquilino (Legal Counsel, Office of the Conflict

of Interest and Ethics Commissioner): She was appointed in
2019, so it would be the current government.

Mr. Michael Barrett: The head of government was Justin
Trudeau.

Mr. Michael Aquilino: Yes.
Mr. Michael Barrett: What sections of the Conflict of Interest

Act did Ms. Verschuren violate while she was chair of the board at

the Prime Minister's slush fund, having been appointed by his gov‐
ernment?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Well, you read my report. I did
an extensive investigation into her activities. I found out, first of all,
that she was not only head of the SDTC, but she was also head of
two not-for-profit organizations. One was called the Verschuren
Centre and one was MaRS. These are basically incubator organiza‐
tions.

Certain companies came forward. They were created by these in‐
cubators. She declared her conflict of interest, but then there was an
actual vote. What's it called—

Mr. Michael Barrett: I apologize for the interruption, but I'm
quite tight for time.

I'm just looking for the number of the sections she violated. Are
you able to reference those offhand or just to enumerate the number
of sections she was found to have violated?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Yes.

Michael, give him the details, please.
Mr. Michael Aquilino: There were two provisions, which were

subsection 6(1) and section 21 of the act.
Mr. Michael Barrett: Sir, are you able to tell us how many [In‐

audible—Editor] thousands of dollars she is deemed to have been
the beneficiary of as a result of the conflict?

Mr. Michael Aquilino: As part of the report, we didn't do the
calculation based on the votes and the dollar amounts associated
with those votes.

Mr. Michael Barrett: We have the Prime Minister's hand-picked
chair of his billion-dollar green slush fund who was found guilty of
breaking Canada's ethics laws. This is, of course, the latest in a long
list of Liberals who have been found to have contravened this act.

In your investigation, did you find that former Liberal innovation
minister Navdeep Bains was aware of Ms. Verschuren's conflict of
interest with NRStor at the time that she was appointed? Give me
just a quick yes or no, if you could.

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: We did not look at her appoint‐
ment. That's not our job. Our job is to look at her, not the steps that
led to her appointment. Once she is appointed, does she have a con‐
flict, and how can it be resolved?

By the way, what we did find is, and let's make it quite clear, that
she received incorrect legal advice, and that was the real problem.
Her advice was because COVID was an emergency, conflict of in‐
terest issues did not apply. That was absolutely wrong. She fol‐
lowed that advice and voted on the subsidies that were given to all
companies, injections in order to help them survive the COVID cri‐
sis.

I found that she shouldn't have done that. She should have re‐
cused herself and should have walked out of the room, because the
vote affected a company in which she had an interest. She didn't do
that. The record clearly shows that she was told no conflict of inter‐
est was there.

I spoke to her counsel. I cross-examined and said, “On what ba‐
sis?” He said, “On my knowledge of basic corporate law.”
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There's no corporate law that I know of that says that, because
there's an emergency, conflict of interest does not apply. It was just
incorrect advice that she followed.

The Chair: Thank you very much. That is the time.

We're moving now to Ms. Bradford.

Ms. Bradford, you have the floor for five minutes, please.
Ms. Valerie Bradford (Kitchener South—Hespeler, Lib.):

Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you, Commissioner, for attending this meeting today.

Again, the meeting was called and the subject was to be Arrive‐
CAN, but I see that MP Barrett has now shifted it to focus on Sus‐
tainable Development Technology Canada.

Along that line, since he has chosen to steer this discussion in
that direction, do you think that.... The Conservatives are continu‐
ing to cry wolf, despite the fact that the government has taken re‐
sponsibility for the lapses in the governance by implementing swift
changes to address the situation. Since your report has come out,
the SDTC funding has been transferred to the National Research
Council, which should ensure more stringent oversight.

Given your findings, how do you take the news of the structural
changes, and how will they lead to better accountability and over‐
sight, in your view?
● (1105)

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Really, the whole issue of con‐
flict of interest in an organization like SDTC is key, because you
have to know something about the industry in order to know what
kind of support they need and what form that support should take.
On the other hand, you can't have conflict, etc., or you have to re‐
cuse yourself. It is ever-present.

SDTC has a very elaborate code of dealing with conflict of inter‐
est, which mirrors the provision of the Conflict of Interest Act. All
they had to do was follow their [Inaudible—Editor]. Unfortunately,
because it was an emergency situation, they thought it didn't apply
and they were advised of that.

I expect that now, in light of my report, there will be heightened
attention to their own internal code and our act in an attempt to en‐
sure this doesn't happen again.

Ms. Valerie Bradford: Thank you, Commissioner.

In looking at your interpretation of subsection 6(1), would it be
fair to say that that the mere existence of a conflict of interest
wouldn't amount to violating the act, but, rather, once active partici‐
pation and the making of a decision in instances where the individ‐
ual knows there could be a conflict of interest...is my understanding
correct?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Yes. If there's a conflict of inter‐
est, there are remedies. One of them is, as I said, to recuse yourself.
Get out of the room and let the others make the decision, etc. Then
you're perfectly fine. If you stay and you vote or you participate in
the discussion, then you get yourself into problems.

Ms. Valerie Bradford: You found that Ms. Verschuren did not
sufficiently remove herself from decision-making in certain in‐

stances, given that she abstained rather than recused herself. In so
doing, she was deemed to have participated in decisions and contra‐
vened subsection 6(1) and section 21.

If she had properly recused herself in every single instance,
would you have found her in breach of both sections?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: No. If she had recused herself,
there would have been no breach or contravention of the act.

Ms. Valerie Bradford: In order to respect the act, and even
SDTC's own conflict of interest policies, individuals should have
recused themselves. The AG found that there were 90 cases where
the foundation's conflict of interest policies were not followed,
linked to $76 million in funding.

Commissioner, given the lack of recusals, it is in these instances
that SDTC leadership would have contravened the act. Is that cor‐
rect?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: That's not quite correct. I am
only asked to look at people who fall under my act. Those are the
people who have been appointed by order in council. There are lots
of members on the board of SDTC who are not appointed by order
in council, and their conflict is not part of my remit.

I find it shocking to see what the Auditor General has reported in
terms of conflict of interest, etc., but it was not conflict of interest
by reporting public office holders, and that's all I can look at: con‐
flict of interest by reporting public office holders.

In this case, I was asked specifically to look at two reporting
public office holders, and I looked at them, at their activities.

Ms. Valerie Bradford: Can you tell me how many current in‐
vestigations your office has under way where they did meet the
threshold of conflict of interest?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Right now?

Ms. Valerie Bradford: Yes.

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: I have none. The last two were
Ms. Verschuren and Mr. Ouimet.

At the present time, I am not investigating anybody. There are no
facts that have been pointed out to me or no requests received from
[Inaudible—Editor] that give me sufficient facts so that I have rea‐
sonable grounds to believe that the act has been contravened and so
that I can start an investigation.

Ms. Valerie Bradford: Thank you for that.

The Chair: Thank you very much. That is the time.

[Translation]

Ms. Sinclair‑Desgagné, you have the floor for two and a half
minutes.

● (1110)

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Thank you, Mr. Chair.
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Commissioner, I'm going to circle back to my previous questions
about employees. We agree that they're not appointed by the gov‐
ernment, but I'd like to ask you a question about ethics, even
though a conflict of interest may not be involved as such.

In one case, a Canada Border Services Agency employee came
before the committee and admitted that he had been invited to a
number of activities, including a whisky tasting, by a company the
government was doing business with. Not only does this employee
not appear to have suffered any retaliation or even been subjected
to an internal investigation, but on the contrary, he was promoted.
Does that seem ethical to you?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: As I said to your colleague, I
don't deal with general ethics issues. Obviously, people who con‐
duct themselves as you described shouldn't be promoted, but it's not
up to me to decide. My opinion is worthless here, because it's not
under my jurisdiction. There are other agencies that handle that.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Yes, you're right. However, I
wouldn't say your opinion is worthless. You are, after all, the Ethics
Commissioner and an officer of Parliament responsible for admin‐
istering the Conflict of Interest Code for Members of the House of
Commons.

From my point of view and that of those who follow our work,
the fact that you agree that it really doesn't seem ethical shows that
there's clearly an operational issue at the Canada Border Services
Agency related to this employee's presence and how he was treated,
even though he admitted he shouldn't have behaved that way with
suppliers. So we agree that this is quite problematic.

I have another question about this kind of conflict of interest. In
the ArriveCAN case, we also heard that thousands of emails had
been deleted. It's not necessarily ethical to delete compromising
emails, but is it illegal? Could you enlighten me on that, or is it re‐
ally outside your area of expertise?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: I find it highly suspicious that
those emails were deleted. I don't know what the rules are there, but
they may have been broken. As to whether it could be a criminal
offence, I don't know. Like you, I find it extraordinary that some‐
thing like that was done, especially since you and the Auditor Gen‐
eral are looking into this situation. They should have provided all
the documents and emails to you rather than deleting them.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

[English]

Up next is Mr. Desjarlais for two and a half minutes.
Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

I do want to comment quickly on the situation at Sustainable De‐
velopment Technology Canada, which was brought up earlier.

A question I had during some of our original testimony in hear‐
ing from SDTC was regarding the condition of protection for the
whistle-blowers. I'm certain that over the course of time—I know
you're relatively new—within the Office of the Conflict of Interest
and Ethics Commissioner there have been instances where whistle-
blowers have maybe come to other departments, including this de‐
partment.

How do you deal with ensuring the protection of whistle-blowers
when you conduct your work?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: If people come forward to us
with evidence that amounts to a conflict of interest and we think
there's reason to believe an investigation is required, we will inves‐
tigate.

If it involves a whistle-blower and that whistle-blower says that
they do not want to be mentioned and that they want to remain
anonymous because they're afraid for their job, then it causes us an
issue, like everybody else. How do we deal with this? How can we
protect them? On the other hand, how can we assure ourselves that
what he or she divulges to us is correct or not?

You're asking me to speculate here. We would probably deal with
the situation or the facts that he or she has presented and try to veri‐
fy them without bringing him or her into the picture. If it's not pos‐
sible, then we really have the unfortunate choice, if he or she
doesn't want to testify, of do we have enough facts or evidence to
proceed or know that it may be true? If he or she is not willing to
testify and that's essential, then we have to close it down.

These are very difficult issues when you're not dealing with
criminal [Inaudible—Editor]. We have no whistle-blower protec‐
tion or anything like this.

I might very well tell the person to go to the Public Sector In‐
tegrity Commissioner and talk to her because she has a specific
mandate to protect people against retaliation in case there is whis‐
tle-blowing.

To my knowledge, we have not had any situations like that. If it
arrives, it will require very delicate handling. That's all I can say at
this point.

● (1115)

The Chair: Thank you very much.

That is your time, Mr. Desjarlais.

Mr. Perkins is joining us online.

You have the floor for five minutes.

Mr. Rick Perkins (South Shore—St. Margarets, CPC): Thank
you, Mr. Chair.

Commissioner, I'd like to ask you about the Verschuren report
that you issued on the Liberal green slush fund, SDTC.

In the report you acknowledge that you were aware of the parlia‐
mentary hearings, as well as the Auditor General's work in this
area. Is that correct?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Yes.

Mr. Rick Perkins: You were aware that the Auditor General, as
part of a report, identified nine order in council appointments to the
board who had voted in conflict of interest—not just the one in Mr.
Barrett's letter.
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Earlier, you said that you only deal with order in council appoint‐
ments. Will you look at the other eight? Those eight voted 186
times out of 400 times—400 votes, 400 transactions, 186 conflicted
and 44% of those nine directors. That's not bad legal advice; that's a
culture of conflict of interest.

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Would you please repeat your
question exactly? I want to make sure that I don't misunderstand
you.

Mr. Rick Perkins: The Auditor General identified nine order in
council directors who, 186 times, voted in conflict of interest out of
400 transactions. That's 44% of order in council appointments and
almost half of the money—$330 million—that they voted compa‐
nies they had a conflict of interest in. That's not bad legal advice, as
you suggested in your report, is it? That's a culture on the board of
conflict of interest and of self-dealing.

Would you look at all nine directors and those instances of con‐
flict of interest?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Let's get the facts straight. I was
asked to look at two order in council appointments, and I looked at
them and their activities—

Mr. Rick Perkins: I know that. I'm sorry, Commissioner. That
was from Mr. Barrett's letter—

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Yes.
Mr. Rick Perkins: You have the ability to investigate beyond

being asked, I would assume.

In that, Ms. Verschuren also voted herself—and you didn't cover
this—or the board gave her companies $10.4 million from compa‐
nies she had an interest in: Hydrostor, Cascadia Seaweed, Man‐
grove Lithium and Resonant.

Those are outside of the COVID payments. Did you look at
those?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Are you suggesting that she did
not recuse herself? Are you suggesting that she voted—

Mr. Rick Perkins: I'm suggesting she created a culture of con‐
flict of interest with nine directors all voting themselves half of the
money from the green slush fund, and you haven't looked at it. I
want to know why you're not looking at probably the largest scan‐
dal in terms of dollars in conflict of interest not only in this govern‐
ment, but in decades.
● (1120)

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Michael, why don't you—
Mr. Michael Aquilino: Yes, I'll jump in here.

The report makes clear that the commissioner did examine every
vote of every meeting in which Ms. Verschuren was the chair. We
didn't name specific companies that were the ultimate beneficiaries.
The focus of the examination in large part was the involvement of
accelerators in which Ms. Verschuren was associated, the Ver‐
schuren Centre and MaRS Discovery District, who were nominat‐
ing other companies for funding. In that regard, we have a break‐
down of—

Mr. Rick Perkins: I understand that, but that's only one aspect.
I'm sorry, but I have limited time. That's only one aspect, and I'm
curious as to why you're not looking into the broader issue of

the $400-million scandal. The Auditor General identified $330 mil‐
lion of conflict.

One director who sat on the board, named Andrée-Lise Méthot,
who is from Quebec, in her time on the board had $97 million go to
companies she has venture capital interests in. That has all been
identified. Nine directors in the Auditor General's report are all or‐
der in council appointees.

Why are you not investigating those conflicts?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Order in council appointees
come in two varieties. You have reporting public office holders and
you have public office holders. Public office holders are those who
have to comply with the act, but they do not have to, at the begin‐
ning of the appointment, come to us, show what they owe and fol‐
low the rules.

Mr. Rick Perkins: That wasn't my question.

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: I hear you, but I'm trying to
give you the context. You're asking me a question, and you're doing
so on the basis of the fact that you think there has been a lot of mis‐
behaviour and we're not investigating.

I am looking at—

Mr. Rick Perkins: The Auditor General—

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: —the people who are reporting
public office holders, and while we were doing the investigation of
Madam Verschuren and Mr. Ouimet, the Auditor General did her
report. Her report came out long after we had finished investigating
these—

Mr. Rick Perkins: Why aren't you investigating—

The Chair: Mr. Perkins, I'm afraid that is the time. You will, I'm
sure, have another opportunity later in this meeting.

We're turning now to Ms. Khalid.

You have the floor for five minutes, please.

Ms. Iqra Khalid: Thank you very much, Chair.

Thank you, Commissioner, for being here today.

Commissioner, have you heard of the Conservative opposition
motion that was passed on June 10? It was presented on June 6,
2024, in the House.

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: I'm sorry, but I'm not aware of
the motion you're referring to.

Ms. Iqra Khalid: This motion required the production of docu‐
ments from the government, the Auditor General and SDTC, to be
presented to the Law Clerk and Parliamentary Counsel with the in‐
tention of providing these documents to the RCMP. In a recent let‐
ter to this committee, the RCMP commissioner sounded the alarm
saying that this House order, which is this motion I'm referring to,
is interfering in operational and police independence. This is hap‐
pening in a free and fair society like Canada.
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Commissioner, have you ever seen instances where the legisla‐
tive branch tried to interfere or direct police as to how to do their
jobs?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: No. I'm not aware of any such
instance.

Ms. Iqra Khalid: How do you feel about that interference?
Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: You're asking me to comment

on the behaviour of Parliament. I'm a servant of Parliament. I do
what you direct me to do. It's a bit hard to ask me to say whether a
motion passed by Parliament was appropriate or not. Obviously, the
commissioner of the RCMP feels it's not proper under the circum‐
stances. He will have good reasons in explaining that, presumably.
You should ask him rather than me about this.

Ms. Iqra Khalid: Commissioner, respectfully, I do believe that
even though you're an employee of Parliament, you have a very,
very important responsibility to be hands-off and to be independent
of the actions of Parliament. In fact, you oversee a very important
aspect of what parliamentarians do.

Commissioner, the Auditor General was recently in the news
saying that this specific Conservative House motion would compro‐
mise her independence. What's your reaction to hearing a fellow of‐
ficer of Parliament sound the alarm that parliamentarians are
putting her work and her office in jeopardy?
● (1125)

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Obviously, it's of concern. I
mean, the whole way we set up these various offices is that they're
to be independent of any politics and to come up with the facts,
present them to the public, inform the public of what's going on,
and, if there are any misdeeds or things that shouldn't have been
done, expose them. Anything that's done to interfere with the inde‐
pendence of this and to put in question any report that's issued by
one of these offices defeats the whole purpose.

I mean, you are independent. That's why you are trustworthy.
You're not influenced by outside influences. What you have to do is
find the facts and expose them. That should be done without any in‐
terference from Parliament.

Ms. Iqra Khalid: Is it the usual practice for an officer of Parlia‐
ment to raise alarm bells like this, in your experience?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: I personally am not aware of
what has been done before. It may have been. I haven't researched
the issue.

Ms. Iqra Khalid: It is, as you said, Commissioner, quite alarm‐
ing that parliamentarians would interfere with the work of indepen‐
dent office holders who are there to provide scrutiny. It is quite
troubling, in my point of view.

The government has addressed the situation that we're talking
about today, which is what I think Canadians expect of our govern‐
ment, but that doesn't quite suffice for the Cons. What matters most
for them is to create chaos. Mr. Poilievre and his Cons, they thrive
in chaos. They need to create it everywhere they go. In turn, they
look to hurt trust in our institutions, including your office, Commis‐
sioner. When they use the House to direct or to seek to influence
police in this country and compromise officers of Parliament,

they're looking to hurt the trust in the institutions that they one day
will seek to govern.

Commissioner, in your view, what is the long-term damage that
is being done to Parliament and to institutions based on this con‐
duct?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: You're asking me to make a po‐
litical judgment. I'm sorry, I cannot do that. You're basically sug‐
gesting that the action of your opponents is undermining the system
and will cause damage in the long term and are asking me if I
agree. That's for people, that's for you, to judge, not me.

Ms. Iqra Khalid: Respectfully, Commissioner—

The Chair: I'm afraid that is the time all around.

We'll begin our third round with Mr. Brock, I believe.

You have the floor for five minutes.

Mr. Larry Brock (Brantford—Brant, CPC): Thank you,
Chair.

Commissioner and counsel, welcome. It's always good to see
you..

The first concern that I have is I'm quite astonished by the com‐
mentary from my colleague Ms. Khalid in terms of her interpreta‐
tion of a demand for documents as seen fit by a majority of mem‐
bers of Parliament. As I'm sure you will agree with me, Mr. Com‐
missioner, Parliament is supreme, and Committees are supreme. We
can order just about anything we want, unfettered.

● (1130)

In fact, the House of Commons' top lawyer basically affirmed
that position, that documentation needed to be produced to get to
the bottom of yet another scandal by this corrupted Liberal govern‐
ment under Justin Trudeau.

Perhaps Ms. Khalid needs to be informed that simply obtaining
documents and forwarding those documents to the RCMP are not
and never would be seen to be interference. It aids in their investi‐
gation. She is somehow suggesting—wrongly, and deliberately
wrongly—that by asking for documents and by furnishing docu‐
ments to the RCMP, we are directing an outcome, which you know,
Commissioner, is completely ridiculous. The RCMP are completely
independent and are unfettered in their decision to lay charges or
not. Would you agree with that?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Yes.

Mr. Larry Brock: Regardless of what Parliament said and re‐
gardless of what Justin Trudeau may have said, they have that final
discretion. Therefore, Ms. Khalid needs to be educated on the pow‐
ers that the RCMP actually have.

A broader concern I have is this: Really, why are you here, Com‐
missioner? As much as I enjoy listening to you and listening to
your counsel, you were chosen to come here by the Liberal Party.
Right out of the gate, they asked you questions about your mandate,
as if they didn't even know why you were here.
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As we well know, and you can confirm, Commissioner, there are
at least a dozen other investigations into this arrive scam scandal,
including the Auditor General's and the RCMP's, and numerous
colleagues at your level. Various commissioners are actually exam‐
ining this scandal. Why weren't they here today? They chose you.
You made it clear to this committee earlier this year that you have
no mandate with respect to the arrive scam. Do you?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: I don't.
Mr. Larry Brock: You don't.
Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: My opening statement today

made that absolutely clear.
Mr. Larry Brock: You made it abundantly clear. This is now

twice you've made it clear that you have no mandate, yet the Liber‐
als wasted this committee's time and wasted your time, sir, from do‐
ing the good work that you are obviously doing throughout the
year.

How much time do I have?
The Chair: Mr. Brock, I want to push you back in your lane.

The witness is here at the invitation of the full committee. You're
welcome to raise his relevance, but he is a committee witness.
Nudge back in, if you could, on that. There are no—

Mr. Larry Brock: Certainly.
The Chair: I appreciate it.

You have a minute and 45 seconds left.
Mr. Larry Brock: Let's get to your report, the “Verschuren Re‐

port”.

We've heard from my colleague Mr. Perkins that she somehow
benefited from the decision-making, which she either made or ab‐
stained voting on but didn't recuse herself, by upwards of $10 mil‐
lion. You found her guilty of breaching two aspects of the act.

I want to know, and I'm sure Canadians watching this want to
know, what is the penalty for her?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: The penalty for her is, as the act
provides right now, basically exposure.

Mr. Larry Brock: I'm sorry?
Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Exposure.
Mr. Larry Brock: Exposure.
Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Yes.

If you have a conflict of interest, we expose it. If you get it certi‐
fied, it does damage to your reputation. That's how the act works.
The act does not have any penalties, except for minor penalties on
reporting things.

The consequences are to.... Obviously, the person who appointed
her has resigned, but if not, for instance, one option would have
been for the government to ask her to resign, etc., if they felt that
the breach we pointed out was severe enough, etc.

As my colleague pointed out, we went through every single vote
of hers. These allegations here that she supposedly voted on issues
of up to $200 million to benefit herself.... As I said, we looked at

every vote she did. She recused herself when required. At least
that's the evidence.

Michael, do you want to elaborate on that?

Mr. Michael Aquilino: That's correct.

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: The whole focus was the emer‐
gency votes. That's what Mr. Barrett's letter asked me to look at,
and we looked at it.

In the process, we also looked at votes that she did with regard to
incubators and we found that she violated.... She should have re‐
cused herself—not abstained because there's no provision for ab‐
staining in the act, except if you're a member of Parliament or a
minister voting on something.

The whole process is essentially.... If you want to put it bluntly,
we investigate, we expose and to some extent we do damage to
your reputation. That's all we can do. The person who appointed
them—we're talking about a reporting public office holder—can
decide if they want to take other actions.

Mr. Larry Brock: Meanwhile, the taxpayers are out $10 million.

The Chair: Thank you. I'm afraid that is your time, Mr. Brock.

We'll turn to Ms. Shanahan, who has the floor for five minutes,
please.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Thank you very much, Chair

I thank you for correcting the record earlier when Mr. Brock was
claiming that we had called the witness, that we were wasting time
and that we were having these meetings that are wasting members'
time.

Thank you for correcting the record because as a member of Par‐
liament and as someone who takes this committee very seriously, to
see it being used time and time again to push the Conservative nar‐
rative—a false narrative and a narrative that is going down rabbit
holes, witch hunts and God knows what else is going on—and not
allowing the duly appointed independent officers of Parliament to
do the jobs they have to do....

If it was the case that those officers of Parliament—I'm very glad
to see the Conflict of Interest and Ethics Commissioner here—were
not doing their jobs, then indeed parliamentarians would be called
into action. However, when they are doing their jobs—the RCMP,
the Auditor General or anyone else who is doing their investiga‐
tion—we must let them do their work.

I want to read now, for the record, from the letter from the com‐
missioner of the RCMP. This is the letter we were sent on July 25.
It's a letter that is directed to the law clerk, Michel Bédard. It says:

The RCMP has also reviewed the implications of the Motion—

This is the motion of June 6.
—in a potential criminal investigation. Before taking any investigative steps to
access documents that may give rise to a reasonable expectation of privacy, the
RCMP must comply with applicable legal standards to preserve the viability of
any potential criminal investigation or prosecution. The Parliamentary produc‐
tion order does not set aside these legal requirements.
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I'll repeat, “The Parliamentary production order does not set
aside these legal requirements.”

It continues:
For the reasons set out above, the RCMP's ability to receive and use information
obtained through this production order and under the compulsory powers afford‐
ed by the Auditor General Act in the course of a criminal investigation could
give rise to concerns under the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms. It is
therefore highly unlikely that any information obtained by the RCMP under the
Motion where privacy interests exists could be used to support a criminal prose‐
cution or further a criminal investigation.

How much time do I have, Chair?
● (1135)

The Chair: You have two minutes and 20 seconds.
Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Excellent.

I'll continue:
Given the risks associated with receiving information under the Motion or other
compulsory authorities, practices need to be put in place to identify the nature
and the source of the information, with a view to determining whether it con‐
tains Charter-protected information—

I'll repeat: “Charter-protected information”.

It continues:
Any information obtained through the Motion or other compulsory authorities
would need to be segregated from an RCMP investigation. There is significant
risk that the Motion could be interpreted as a circumvention of normal investiga‐
tive processes and Charter protections.

I'm going to repeat that, Chair: “There is significant risk that the
motion could be interpreted as a circumvention of normal inves‐
tigative processes and Charter protections.”

I'll continue: “The RCMP will continue its review of available
information” and so on and so forth.

I'd like to hear the commissioner's views on what I just read out.
Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: The commissioner states the

law. He points out that there could be possible challenges based on
the charter, which is a fact. Whether there will be or not and with‐
out anything more, I think nobody can argue with him that the char‐
ter comes first and we have to protect it.

If you have information that you gathered in an investigation and
furnished here, you have to be very careful about how, when and
where you use it. As far as I can tell from the letter you just read, it
seems to me he's just pointing out normal legal concerns.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Thank you for that, Commissioner.

Indeed, the government has taken corrective steps in order to en‐
sure better oversight and accountability to the personnel and fi‐
nances of SDTC, because, yes, stuff happens. Stuff happens, and
we need to have the processes in place in order to investigate and to
make corrective action, which has been done in this case by transi‐
tioning this program to the National Research Council.
● (1140)

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Shanahan.
Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: But we're not looking for solutions

here, are we? We're just looking to muckrake.
The Chair: We will certainly come back to this, I expect.

[Translation]

Ms. Sinclair‑Desgagné, you have the floor for two and a half
minutes.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Commissioner, all my colleagues have brought up Sustainable
Development Technology Canada, since that matter—

The Chair: Hold on one second.

[English]

Voices: [Inaudible—Editor]

The Chair: Order. Order in this chamber, please.

[Translation]

Ms. Sinclair‑Desgagné, could you start over, please? You have
the floor for two and a half minutes.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Okay, I'll start again. I got
thrown off by the disorderly conduct—

The Chair: I understand. I'll reset the clock, and when you're
ready, you will have the floor for two and a half minutes.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Okay. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Commissioner, a number of my colleagues have talked about
Sustainable Development Technology Canada.

You released the Verschuren report, and a question comes to
mind: In one part of the report, you mention that Ms. Verschuren
probably acted the way she thought she should act to avoid a con‐
flict of interest, that is to say that she abstained from voting rather
than recusing herself. Is that correct?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Yes, your summary is correct.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Okay, thank you.

One thing I'm curious about is, don't board appointees receive
training on conflict of interest and how to deal with potential con‐
flicts of interest?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: It depends on the organization.
Generally, organizations have legal counsel who explain the rules.
Companies have a code governing things like conduct and conflict
of interest. If an organization asks us to do a presentation on con‐
flict of interest, we do it.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: In the very specific case of
Ms. Verschuren, when she took up her duties, did she not receive
training on what to do when faced with a potential conflict of inter‐
est?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: We didn't provide her with any
training. I don't know what she did—
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Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: I'm asking you the question in
a general way, because it's pretty important. If no training was pro‐
vided, that's a major issue, because we know that these individuals
administer public funds.

However, if she did receive training, as many people must, how
can we assume that she's acting in good faith? How could someone
appointed to a position so important that it includes a spot on the
board of directors of an organization that provides funding not un‐
derstand their training? Are they worthy of that position?

Either way, this is a major issue.
Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Obviously, I'm not familiar with

the standard practice at Sustainable Development Technology
Canada in terms of training new board members. I assume that
training was provided. If not, it should have been. I find it hard to
believe that Ms. Verschuren did not receive any training, because
it's common practice in all organizations.

I only know what happened at the various board meetings. On a
few occasions, she declared her potential conflict of interest as a
member of the board of directors of the incubators MaRS and the
Verschuren Centre, but she did not recuse herself. That was the
problem. It was a technical violation with no consequence, but the
law required her to recuse herself and not vote. She declared her
apparent conflict of interest, but she still voted.
● (1145)

The Chair: Thank you very much.
[English]

Up next is Mr. Desjarlais.

You have the floor for two and a half minutes, please.
Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

Thank you again, Commissioner, for being present to answer
questions related to SDTC.

I know that you were likely not given notice about these ques‐
tions, so I do appreciate your comments on the topic.

It was earlier identified, and my colleague Ms. Sinclair-Des‐
gagné mentioned an aspect of the question I wish to pose. It is relat‐
ed to Ms. Verschuren denying claims of conflict, saying that she got
legal counsel or legal advice and that she did not have to recuse
herself because her firm was a group of 100 companies that re‐
ceived the same level of additional funding. We obviously know
now that is not the case and that it shouldn't have happened. Can
you respond to her claims and tell the committee why her case is
still relevant under the Conflict of Interest Act?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: It's relevant, I think, as a lesson
to other companies. Follow the rules that are set out for you in the
act and in the company's own code of conduct. If you follow them,
there's no problem.

If you have a situation like we had with COVID and you say that
because it's an emergency now and because all the companies get it,
not only the one company in which you have interest, therefore a
conflict never applies, follow your own judgment. Look, you're go‐
ing to benefit from it, so let's get out of here. Let's not vote on it. In

that case you're clear and free. That's really the message from all of
this.

No matter what, you have the rules. Follow them, and you're
clear and free. If anybody tells you it doesn't apply in this case,
look at it with a great deal of caution.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Thank you very much for that, Commis‐
sioner. I think that's the most important lesson from this situation.
It's that for the conflict of interest, regardless of whether one at‐
tempts to avoid accountability, the recusal portion of that admission
is most critical in ensuring that the person, in this case, Ms. Ver‐
schuren, could understand directly that conflict. Isn't that correct?
That recusal process, doing that, is the most important piece to un‐
derstanding one's own conflict or perceived conflict. Is that correct?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Yes. That's correct.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: I also know that there has been training
and that there are ways this information gets to public servants or
even to others. Is this something that you think your office could
enhance its work in doing, ensuring that officials like Ms. Ver‐
schuren, and others in like positions in these boards of manage‐
ment, to understand these rules of recusal better?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: You can always improve on
what you do, obviously. What we do right now, for somebody like
Ms. Verschuren, when she gets appointed, first thing, she gets a let‐
ter from us saying, “Welcome. Please fill out this very extensive
questionnaire so that we can sit down with you, find out if you have
a conflict and find out what has to be done.” That happens, and
there are certain steps taken, most usually either establishing
screens or insisting on blind trusts, etc. Then, we say, “This is your
adviser, and she is there for you. If you have any problem, call her,
and she will tell you if it's okay.” Then, if there is an issue and she
calls them, we will help her resolve the issue. We do that.

Also, if the organization asks if we can do a briefing session on
conflict of interest for their board members, we'll gladly do that.
We'll send somebody over to walk them through it.

We're trying to do as much as possible, but the main thing is that
you have to be aware of it. If you are in these positions, these are
public trust positions. The rules apply, and they will be enforced. If
you are in doubt about what it is, call us, or don't vote. If you think
there's a possibility of a conflict of interest, there usually is.

The Chair: Thank you, Commissioner.

Mr. Desjarlais, that is your time.

I'm going to suspend for five minutes for a health break. We'll be
right back.

● (1145)
_____________________(Pause)_____________________

● (1155)

The Chair: I call this meeting back to order.
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Just so everyone is aware, we have two more questioners to fin‐
ish the third round. Then I will do a fourth round and call it a day,
unless there is UC to continue.

Mr. Barrett, you have the floor for five minutes, please.
Mr. Michael Barrett: Chair, I want to take a minute to quickly

respond to Ms. Shanahan's very animated opinions on what Parlia‐
ment can and can't do.

A majority of members of the House of Commons passed a mo‐
tion. That's important. It was a majority of members of the House.
The Liberals want to act like they have a majority, but certainly
they don't. A majority of members saw the corruption of this Liber‐
al government and passed this motion. The motion calls for docu‐
ments to be sent to the RCMP.

Ms. Shanahan read a letter. I just want to share a quote from the
parliamentary legal counsel in his letter to the Speaker of the House
of Commons: “The power to send for documents is absolute and
unfettered—period. It is a constitutional parliamentary privilege not
limited by statute. As such, the House is not constrained by statuto‐
ry obligations contained in legislation such as the Access to Infor‐
mation Act and the Privacy Act. I also note that the order did not
contemplate that redactions be made to the document or that infor‐
mation be withheld.”

It's without limit. It's absolute. They may not like it, and they cer‐
tainly don't seem to understand it, but it's the law. A majority of
members of the House, democratically elected, made that decision.
We know that their Prime Minister, Justin Trudeau, favours a dicta‐
torship, but that's not how our system works.

The commissioner of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police does
report to a minister in Justin Trudeau's cabinet, as per section 5 of
the RCMP Act, but the RCMP, of course, has full and final discre‐
tion on the investigations they launch. That's not going to stop Par‐
liament from doing its job. We'll make the information available.
The RCMP can choose to investigate or not.

Much to the chagrin of Mr. Trudeau and his Liberal members,
this is a democracy, not a dictatorship. A majority of members of
the House made a decision. They can call independent officers of
Parliament here to get them to opine on it, but it doesn't change the
fact that it's legal and it's the right thing to do, especially after nine
years of the most corrupt government in history. That's what we
have with these members and that Liberal government.

Commissioner, I want to move on to yet another Liberal scandal.
Did you have an opportunity to review the testimony of Mr.
Stephen Anderson, who's the business partner of Justin Trudeau's
minister from Edmonton, Randy Boissonnault? He recently ap‐
peared at the ethics committee. Did you have an opportunity to re‐
view that testimony, sir?
● (1200)

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: I read about it in the paper. I did
not watch it personally.

Mr. Michael Barrett: New evidence was presented of business-
related text messages between Mr. Anderson and a client of Mr.
Boissonnault's company. Now, in these messages, Mr. Anderson
refers to Mr. Boissonnault nine times, saying that there's going to

be a partner call. He went on to admit that there was only one
Randy at the company. We even saw in these text messages that
Randy—Randy in the text messages—was in Vancouver at the
same time that Justin Trudeau's minister Randy Boissonnault was
in Vancouver at the cabinet retreat.

The evidence of Randy Boissonnault being involved is quite
heavy. It's contained in the text messages that were presented at the
ethics committee. Does this new information require a further look
into the matter by you? Give a brief answer, if you could, sir.

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: I'm sorry. I can't give you a
brief answer, but I'll give you an answer.

Mr. Michael Barrett: We're both limited by the time here.

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: You raised this issue with me
before. I looked into it and saw whether there were reasonable
grounds to start a.... I became convinced that on September 8,
which was the issue and day in question....

I'm waiting for you—I'm talking to you—because we have to
make sure that we both understand each other, that it concerned
September 8.

On September 8, there was no way.... Mr. Boissonnault offered to
give me all the information on September 8—of his conversations,
telephone conversations, emails, whatever. We looked at all of that.
There was absolutely no way there was contact between him and
Mr. Anderson.

Now this new stuff has come up, which I was unaware of. I
wrote to Mr. Boissonnault again yesterday. I said, “I'm concerned
about September 6 and 7. I know that there was no communication
on September 8, because you were in a cabinet lock-in and I have
all the documents. Mr. Anderson's email suggests that he was in
contact with you. Would you please provide me the same informa‐
tion for September 6 and 7 as you've done for September 8?”

When I get that, I will determine whether Mr. Anderson was us‐
ing the name in vain or whether there were actually conversations.

Mr. Michael Barrett: I have a very brief amount of time left.

I appreciate the answer that you're looking for more information
from Mr. Boissonnault.

How can you be assured that you're receiving information from
all of his text messages? We know that he used the app called Sig‐
nal. We know he used other text messaging apps.

Are you certain that you have the messages from all of the mes‐
saging applications that he used, including Signal and any other in‐
stant messaging application?
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Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: We specified in the letter that
we want any means of electronic communication between the two
of them, whether it's, as you say, Signal, Skype, telephone calls or
whatever you use.

Once I get that information, I will be able to exercise my judg‐
ment as to whether there are reasonable grounds to suspect that
there was an involvement of Mr. Boissonnault and therefore launch
an investigation or really that his name was being used in vain by
Mr. Anderson in order to give extra credibility to his emails.

Mr. Michael Barrett: I appreciate your answer. Thanks.
The Chair: Thank you. That is the time.

Ms. Shanahan, you have the floor again for five minutes.
Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Thank you, Chair.

Wow. This is very interesting.

If the Conservatives were not so obsessed by pursuing their own
convoluted conspiracy theories and narratives and attacking mem‐
bers of Parliament, especially members on this committee, at every
turn....

We see the partisan objective of the members who are making
these accusations. We're all big boys and girls and we can all play
in that arena, but when it involves independent officers of Parlia‐
ment—and we just heard the commissioner saying that he is dis‐
turbed when he hears of fellow independent officers raising the
alarm that their work is being interfered with or could be compro‐
mised—then I think we need to take heed.

Indeed, I want to finish with the letter I was reading earlier from
the RCMP commissioner. It says:

The RCMP will continue its review of available information that does not give
rise to concerns under the Charter to determine if sufficient evidence exists to
launch a criminal investigation. I would like to emphasize as well that the
RCMP is operationally independent and strictly adheres to the the principle of
police independence. In a free and democratic society, this ensures that the gov‐
ernment cannot direct or influence the actions of law enforcement and that law
enforcement decisions remain based on the information and evidence available
to police.

Am I to infer by the comments of the members of the Conserva‐
tive Party that they would interfere with police investigations? That
is what I am hearing.
● (1205)

[Translation]

I want to continue in French, because I know that my fellow
Canadians are very concerned about what's happening today.

I'm going to read excerpts from the letter the RCMP commis‐
sioner sent to law clerk and parliamentary counsel Michel Bédard.

The RCMP has also reviewed the implications of the Motion in a potential crim‐
inal investigation. Before taking any investigative steps to access documents that
may give rise to a reasonable expectation of privacy, the RCMP must comply
with applicable legal standards to preserve the viability of any potential criminal
investigation or prosecution. The Parliamentary production order does not set
aside these legal requirements. For the reasons set out above, the RCMP's ability
to receive and use information obtained through this production order and under
the compulsory powers afforded by the Auditor General Act in the course of a
criminal investigation could give rise to concerns under the Canadian Charter of
Rights and Freedoms. It is therefore highly unlikely that any information ob‐

tained by the RCMP under the Motion where privacy interests exists could be
used to support a criminal prosecution or further a criminal investigation.

... There is significant risk that the Motion could be interpreted as a circumven‐
tion of normal investigative processes and Charter protections.

The RCMP will continue its review of available information that does not give
rise to concerns under the Charter to determine if sufficient evidence exists to
launch a criminal investigation. I would like to emphasize as well that the
RCMP is operationally independent and strictly adheres to the principle of po‐
lice independence. In a free and democratic society, this ensures that the govern‐
ment cannot direct or influence the actions of law enforcement and that law en‐
forcement decisions remain based on the information and evidence available to
police.

It's very important that we as parliamentarians consider and re‐
spect what I just read out. Unfortunately, on other occasions we've
seen that the opposition is searching for scandals in such a partisan
manner that we risk turning away from all the good legal and inves‐
tigative practices from our Parliament and all the institutions we've
put in place.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

[English]

Beginning our fourth and final round is Mr. Brock.

I understand you might be sharing your time. Would you like me
to let you know when you're halfway, or are you going to hand that
off?

Mr. Larry Brock: Let me know when I'm halfway.

The Chair: Very good.

Mr. Larry Brock: On behalf of the Conservative Party, I am so
sorry that we have offended Ms. Shanahan in our job in terms of
holding this government to account in discovering and exposing
corruption at the highest level. If that's offensive to her, so be it.
That's our job.

Commissioner, on the issue regarding Randy Boissonnault, I ap‐
preciate you have only reviewed the actual newspaper story of the
report. You didn't actually listen to the committee. You didn't read
that transcript. Is that correct?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: That's correct.

Mr. Larry Brock: Are you prepared to do that, given some of
the concerns that have now been raised?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: As I mentioned, the reports—

● (1210)

Mr. Larry Brock: Just give me a yes or no, sir.

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: I am concerned because he may
have admitted he lied. There are emails that have emerged that ac‐
cuse Randy seven times, etc.

Mr. Larry Brock: He was also supposed to provide the commit‐
tee with additional emails, additional documentation and, actually,
the identity of the person who he claimed was autocorrected nine
times. He failed to comply with that order of committee.

Does that concern you?
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Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Yes, of course. We hope it con‐
cerns you, too. We're talking about parliamentary process here, not
my investigation.

Mr. Larry Brock: It would be naive for all of us to only con‐
clude that what you received from Minister Randy Boissonnault
were all the devices that he had access to. He could have accessed a
burner phone that he never supplied to you. He could have used an‐
other communication app that he never supplied to you.

You agree with me, sir, that there are still ways of communicat‐
ing that he did not supply to you. That is possible, is it not?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: You are assuming here quasi-
criminal behaviour. I want the evidence. Once I have the evi‐
dence—

Mr. Larry Brock: Do you believe that there are burner phones
out there?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Of course there are burner
phones.

Mr. Larry Brock: Do you believe there are communication apps
other than Signal and WhatsApp?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: I just answered the question
from your colleague. I said that, for any kind of information, let me
have the response from Mr. Boissonnault, and then I will decide
whether it is credible and sufficient or whether I need any more evi‐
dence. Then, if—

Mr. Larry Brock: Hypothetically, assuming you conclude that
Minister Randy Boissonnault has breached the act, what are the
consequences to him, briefly?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: First of all, I would have to be‐
gin an investigation. If the investigation came to that, I would make
a public report and I would send it to the Prime Minister. It would
be up to the Prime Minister to decide what to do.

The Chair: You're at halfway, Mr. Brock.
Mr. Larry Brock: Thank you.
The Chair: Mr. Genuis, you have two minutes and 15 seconds.
Mr. Garnett Genuis: Thank you, Chair.

Commissioner, you just confirmed that you are further investi‐
gating Randy Boissonnault in relation to the infamous other Randy
affair. A partner at Randy Boissonnault's company sent many text
messages claiming to be in communication with Randy Boisson‐
nault and receiving direction from Randy about the work of the
company. If he was given that direction, then that would clearly be
a violation of the law. By his own admission, the partner lied by
claiming that there was another Randy at the company. He also ab‐
surdly claimed that in every case Randy was mentioned, it was au‐
tocorrect.

You told us that your previous investigation looked at September
8. Now you're looking at other dates. I certainly welcome the fur‐
ther investigation you're doing in this regard.

I want to clarify something from Mr. Brock's testimony. It
sounds like, in seeking information from Mr. Boissonnault and in
seeking text messages across all apps and all possible phones,
you're essentially using the honour system and that you're expecting
honourable members to be honourable in handing over all of the in‐

formation you've requested and not hiding anything. Is that correct?
Is that the way you operate?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: I will correct your terminology.
We're not investigating. We were looking first to see if there was
enough grounds and credible reasonable evidence to allow us to
commence an investigation. We have come to the conclusion now
that, no, there wasn't.

Now that the further emails have come out, we have asked for
further proof of whether there was communication between Randy
Boissonnault and Mr. Anderson.

Once that comes out, I will have to see the information and, on
that basis, make a decision about whether there are reasonable
grounds.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: I have a very specific question—

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: I can't answer your question
now because I haven't got the evidence in front of me.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Okay, but I just want to clarify one piece.

In your request for this information, you're using the honour sys‐
tem. You're asking Mr. Boissonnault for the information, and you're
assuming that he's going to give you the information, and you're
only using the information that he gives you. It's the honour system.
Is that correct?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: I wouldn't call it the honour sys‐
tem. I'm asking the person directly implicated to give me all the in‐
formation that he has. On that basis, if I do launch an investigation,
I can put him under oath, and I can put Mr. Anderson under oath.
They would commit a criminal offence if they committed perjury.
All of this is—

Mr. Garnett Genuis: In the initial stage—

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Genuis. That is the the time. You'll
be able to come back to this if there are further questions.

Ms. Yip, you have the floor for five minutes, please.

Ms. Jean Yip: Thank you, Chair.

I would like to return to the issue at hand. We are not questioning
the powers of the House. The question is not about what parliamen‐
tarians can or cannot do. It is about what they should or shouldn't
do.

I would like to go back to the letter and go back to the concerns
shared by the RCMP.

The RCMP warns there are risks and implications of documents
produced by the House motion in a potential criminal investigation.
They warn that these materials will need to be set aside from an in‐
vestigation and that there is significant risk that the House motion
could be interpreted as circumvention of normal investigative pro‐
cesses and charter protections.
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This should bring pause to all of us here. The RCMP and the Au‐
ditor General are warning parliamentarians—and I'm looking at the
Conservatives here—of the risks and implications of a House order
like this one. By clearly implying that there is criminality, the leg‐
islative branch led by Conservative manoeuvres is looking to direct
or to influence the RCMP to investigate and to lay charges, infring‐
ing on operational and police independence. That is concerning in a
democratic society.

Don't get me wrong. Our fact-finding work as parliamentarians is
important, but when our work starts to enter law enforcement, insti‐
tutions and parliamentary officers with the risk of jeopardizing the
very values and trusts underpinning these institutions, then we have
a big problem on our hands.

Besides the RCMP, the Auditor General has also raised concerns.

Commissioner, how many times have you sounded the alarm on
parliamentary manoeuvres compromising your independence? Is
this a normal occurrence since you took on the role?
● (1215)

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: No. I've never had any reason to
make that kind of statement or to sound an alarm.

Ms. Jean Yip: In your view, what are the ramifications of a
compromised independence for an officer of Parliament?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: I think you have to look at it
holistically.

There are three different principles at play here. One is the
supremacy of Parliament. Nobody questions that. Another one is
the independence of the RCMP to, at their discretion, decide
whether there's evidence for criminal prosecution or not. Third,
there's a Charter of Rights, which is overriding and protects Cana‐
dians. You have to make sure that those three, when you administer,
don't interfere with each other and that they work together harmo‐
niously.

What a letter to the RCMP says.... When you ask Parliament to
use its rights to ask for information and to furnish it to us, etc., we
have to be very careful how we use it so that it doesn't either violate
the charter or impinge on our independence.

That's the problem that exists, and it's a perfectly valid reason to
state that it's an issue. How they will resolve it, I have no idea. I'm
not involved in that. It would be the same if it involved my office
and our investigation. We would have had the same problem of try‐
ing to reconcile these three principles that govern our system.

Ms. Jean Yip: How would you use your office as an educational
tool to educate the public in situations like this?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: In situations like what?
Ms. Jean Yip: It would be with respect to the concerns that were

just raised.
Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: I'm not so sure that it's the func‐

tion of my office to do that.

If we had a situation where we are investigating and where Par‐
liament is ordering somebody to furnish it, etc., I would do the
same. In my final decision, I would be very carefully walking
through the various steps, saying here is this information and that

information, and there are these Charter of Rights concerns, etc.
The way to come to a final and fair situation, respecting all three
principles, would be A, B, C. That would be my approach. Without
having the facts in a situation, I really can't elucidate any more than
that.

Ms. Jean Yip: Do you think it's responsible of a member to pre‐
determine the outcome of an investigation and to publicly share this
view?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: It's freedom of speech. They can
do what they want. I guess the electors, finally, will have to decide
whether that was appropriate behaviour or not.

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Yip.

That is the time, unless you have a short question.

Ms. Jean Yip: No. Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you very much. I appreciate it.

● (1220)

[Translation]

Ms. Sinclair‑Desgagné, you have the floor for two and a half
minutes.

Ms. Nathalie Sinclair-Desgagné: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I'm going to say something. When it was my turn to speak in the
last round, I was interrupted by two parliamentarians from two dif‐
ferent parties—the Liberals and the Conservatives—who were
muckraking. I find it ridiculous that the Conservatives are now ac‐
cusing the Liberals of being undemocratic, when it's their members
who heckle during question period under a leader whose every
word is a lie pretty much. I think it's ridiculous. Nor will I defend
the Liberal party, which has shown time and time again that it's in‐
competent and incapable of governing. I find it unfortunate that the
Liberal Party and the Conservative Party are slinging mud at each
other. Canadians deserve better. Quebecers certainly deserve better.
It's really a shame. I wanted to point that out, because our commit‐
tee is supposed to rise above the fray and not be partisan. Yet this
committee is consistently dominated by two parties yelling at each
other, and that's inappropriate.

Commissioner, I would like to come back to my last question.
Based on your report, why did you assume that Ms. Verschuren was
acting in good faith? After all, she was appointed chair of the board
of directors, which implies a certain level of competence. It was
clear that Ms. Verschuren had taken what she believed were the
right steps to manage her conflicts of interest. However, she didn't
meet the requirements of the act, which she should have known
since she was the chair of the board of Sustainable Development
Technology Canada and had received training. By not recusing her‐
self, even by abstaining, she was able to influence a vote. That's ab‐
surd to me and I don't understand why we're acting in such good
faith with her.

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Your question is about the dif‐
ference between “abstaining” and “recusing oneself”.
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When people recuse themselves, they leave the room. If they
aren't there, they can't influence the discussion. Other people are
free to make comments without offending anyone or say that there's
something inappropriate about the relationship between the chair
and the company. For that reason, recusal allows the board to make
a decision on the matter.

If someone says they are in a conflict of interest and simply ab‐
stains from voting, they remain in the room. However, their pres‐
ence alone can influence the decision or affect the free flow of dis‐
cussion. For that reason, the act requires that people recuse them‐
selves.

For some reason that's unclear to me, Ms. Verschuren didn't do
that. Sustainable Development Technology Canada allowed her to
abstain from voting, but didn't insist that she recuse herself. The
board held a general vote on resolutions as a whole, to settle every‐
thing, and that included Ms. Verschuren's companies. She voted for
that. That's not possible: Someone can't say they are abstaining
from voting on a specific thing due to a conflict of interest, and
then vote on the resolutions as a whole, including the company pre‐
senting the conflict of interest. That was a technical breach of the
act. I don't know, it may be the result of ignorance on some level or
a lack of information, but the act is very clear: Ms. Verschuren was
required to leave the room, but she didn't.
● (1225)

The Chair: Thank you very much.
[English]

Mr. Desjarlais, this is your last round. You have two and a half
minutes, please.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

I want to thank the witnesses again for being present.

I want to thank my colleagues for their good questions and to re‐
iterate the comment made by my colleague Nathalie Sinclair-Des‐
gagné in calling for some order and decency in our work.

It has troubled me, Chair, in the last while that it seems as though
truth and decency are oftentimes taking a back seat to partisanship.
I think it's important, as we prepare to come back to session, that
we try our best to unite on what is true. It's clear that there are prob‐
lems in the government. It's clear that there are issues with procure‐
ment. It's clear that there should never have been or should not be
conflicts of interest that misalign or damage our institutions.

I just wanted to make the point very clear that I do certainly
agree. I call my colleagues' attention to what I perceive to be an is‐
sue that is impacting our work here in a negative way. I hope we
can continue to co-operate in finding truth and recommending real
solutions to ending the systemic issues that are present.

I do want to turn, Commissioner, to the report of the OAG in re‐
lation to the SDTC. One of the issues we investigated when we re‐
ceived this report was roles. There was no clear definition of roles
or terms of reference that would define roles, particularly when it
came to an issue of the assistant deputy minister attending meetings
of the board.

You may be familiar with this. It's section 6.74, as follows:

An assistant deputy minister of the department regularly attended meetings of
the foundation’s board and received all board materials. But neither the department
nor the foundation documented what they expected from this role. We found that
the directors’ understanding of the assistant deputy minister’s role did not align
with his own. This ambiguity led the board to believe that the assistant deputy min‐
ister’s presence at meetings provided an implicit agreement by the department for
any decisions that the board made.

It's deeply disturbing.

Can you comment on how that could affect the perception of or
even the very real conflict of interest that could be present when
there isn't a clear definition of those board members' responsibili‐
ties—particularly when it came to even having a department mem‐
ber present, especially when the department member who was
present had a different or conflicting understanding of their role
there? The board perceived it as consent when in fact the ADM did
not.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Desjarlais. Your time is up. I will al‐
low the commissioner to respond. I would just ask that you not in‐
terrupt, because that will end it.

Commissioner, you have the floor for a response. Then I'll turn to
our next member.

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: The assistant deputy minister is
not a reporting public office holder. Any conflict he has doesn't fall
under my regime, first of all. Why he was invited there, I don't
know. That was up to the SDTC to decide. If they saw his presence
being there as consent, etc., that is troublesome, because they are
supposed to make their decisions on the basis of their best judg‐
ment, not because it suits the department.

As I say, that's an observation from the Auditor General. It really
has nothing to do with us at conflict of interest. A good government
requires that in a meeting of the board of directors, you have the
people who make their decisions based on their best understanding
and judgment and you have resource persons there. You do not
have persons there whose influence or whose position or something
could be seen as tacit approval or disapproval.

The Chair: Thank you.

Mr. Perkins, you have the floor for five minutes. You have the
last Conservative spot.

Mr. Rick Perkins: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you, Commissioner. I would like to follow up briefly on
Mr. Genuis's last question. In the mysterious Randy emails and
documents and the request to access that you had, just so I'm clear,
it's on the honour system, I think you said. He is not compelled
legally under oath or anything to provide you with all the docu‐
ments. It's just an honour system. Is that correct?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Actually, he came forward.
When this thing first erupted, he wrote to me, “I'll do anything I can
to clear my name. What do you need?” I said I needed regarding
September 8 any kind of communications he had on that day with
Anderson. He gave me that.
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Now there's September 6 and 7, and I'm saying, “This is totally
new information. Would you please provide me every kind of com‐
munication you had on those two days with Mr. Anderson? The is‐
sue, obviously, is whether you had dealings with him or whether
your name was used in vain in order to enhance the position of Mr.
Anderson.”
● (1230)

Mr. Rick Perkins: He was supposed to provide everything. He
didn't, and you went back to him.

You have no way of knowing whether or not you actually have
every document.

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: My capacity to investigate him
is based on me being able to have reasonable grounds to believe.

The mere fact that his name was mentioned in an email on
September 8 and nothing else—it was “Randy”; it didn't even say
Boissonnault—is not enough to launch an investigation to consti‐
tute reasonable grounds to believe that something is wrong.

Now we have two more days and suddenly seven times the name
Randy was used. I want to know, first of all from him, what were
his communications, if any, on those two days. Once I have that, I
will have to decide whether I have reasonable grounds to believe
that an investigation is warranted.

Mr. Rick Perkins: That's even though he was a 50% owner in
the ultimate company that had very few employees.

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: He's entitled to be an owner of a
company. That's as long as he's a silent one.

Mr. Rick Perkins: There were very few employees. There
weren't many Randys there, unless you believe one of the Liberal
MPs who may have said it was “Randeep”.

I'll move on to SDTC. Part of your investigation was the MaRS
accelerator fund. Ms. Verschuren chairs MaRS. Did you go further
into that?

For the period the Auditor General audited, from 2017 to 2023,
did you investigate the fact that MaRS received almost $22 million
from ISED? About a third of their funding comes from the federal
government. Did you investigate at all the conflicts that she is in
with regard to funding from MaRS to her companies, NRStor and
others, as part of that?

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: How does it constitute a conflict
of interest if MaRS receives funding from the government on a dif‐
ferent program?

Mr. Rick Perkins: She chairs an organization that receives fed‐
eral funding. She then has that organization vote for money for
companies she has ownership interest in.

You didn't look at that. The answer is yes or no and you didn't
look at that yet.

Mr. Konrad von Finckenstein: Michael.
Mr. Michael Aquilino: Again, I just want to make sure.

Is the allegation that MaRS directly receives funding from SDTC
or is it that they facilitated the funding of other companies through
their role as an accelerator?

Mr. Rick Perkins: Look, I thought it was pretty clear. They re‐
ceived money. She chairs it. That fund that has federal government
money has given money to a company she owns, but since you
haven't looked at it, I'll move on.

I think what's needed is a little more investigation, in my mind,
by the Ethics Commissioner into this whole scenario. Every time
we do an investigation there is more uncovered, so I'm going to
move the following motion which has been given to the clerk, if the
clerk could circulate it.

The motion is:

That, given the Auditor General's audit of Sustainable Development Technology
Canada, and given that the government-appointed board members approved:

$330 million towards 186 projects (44%) in which nine Order-in-Council board
members had conflicts of interest in violation of the Canada Foundation for Sus‐
tainable Development Technology Act; and

$58 million towards projects that were outside of SDTC's spending restrictions
outlined in its contribution agreements with ISED;

the committee therefore express extreme concern with the blatant disregard of
taxpayer funds, call on the Minister of Innovation, Science and Industry to re‐
coup these funds for Canadian taxpayers within 60 days following the adoption
of this motion, and request that the Ethics Commissioner investigate all 186 con‐
flict of interest votes and the culture of conflict of interest at the SDTC Board.

I put that forward, Mr. Chair. I believe you have—

● (1235)

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Perkins.

We are just going to make sure what you read is similar. It has
been sent.

I'll turn the floor back to you in a moment, Mr. Perkins, and then
I'll look for other speakers.

I am going to excuse our witnesses because I believe this is not
going to be a quick discussion.

Commissioner, thank you very much for appearing. Of course
you are welcome to sit and watch the debate unfold since it does
touch on your office, but you can also check the notes afterwards.

Ms. Iqra Khalid: I have a point of order, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: Mr. Aquilino, thank you as well.

Ms. Khalid, you have the floor for a point of order.

Ms. Iqra Khalid: Thanks, Chair.

I don't think we need to excuse the witnesses until at least you've
ruled that the motion is in order. I know we have one more round,
for the Liberals at least, to be able to ask further questions of our
witnesses.

The Chair: I view the motion as in order as a matter at hand mo‐
tion, and I'm going to turn the floor back to Mr. Perkins.
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Mr. Rick Perkins: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

As members know, this came to light a little over a year ago as a
result of whistle-blowers providing hundreds and hundreds of pages
of documentation to the Department of Industry. They then had a
couple of months of private discussions with the CFO of the De‐
partment of Industry, who called the—

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Chair, I have a point of order.
The Chair: Mr. Perkins, I have a point of order from Ms. Shana‐

han.
Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: Before the witness leaves, I'd like to

challenge that. I do challenge your decision.
The Chair: You're challenging the decision that this is in order.
Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: I'm challenging the decision that the

motion is in order and that the witness be allowed to leave. We still
have one more Liberal speaking spot.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: Chair, I have a point of order.

You cannot retrospectively challenge a decision that has already
been implemented. If the chair makes a decision, you can challenge
the chair in the moment when the decision is being made. I can't
decide that I don't like a decision you made an hour ago in this
meeting and try to undo the proceedings that have happened since.
It was ruled in order. There was no challenge. Mr. Perkins began
his comments, and then Ms. Shanahan maybe got a note from a
staffer, or maybe she—

Ms. Iqra Khalid: I have a point of order on that same point.
The Chair: Hold on. I'm hearing Mr. Genuis. I'll hear your point

of order after.
Mr. Blake Desjarlais: I have a point on that same point.
The Chair: Okay. I'm taking a list of points of order, just one at

a time.

Mr. Genuis, you can wrap up, and then I will hear other points of
order.

Mr. Garnett Genuis: I'm done, Chair.
The Chair: Thank you.

Ms. Khalid, you have the floor, and then I will hear Mr. Desjar‐
lais on a point of order.

I see, Mr. Desjarlais, your hand is up to speak to the motion as
well.

Ms. Khalid, you have the floor.
Ms. Iqra Khalid: Thank you, Chair.

To counter what Mr. Genuis said, the ruling was made and within
a couple of seconds, you dismissed the witnesses and you gave the
floor back to Mr. Perkins. This was not an hour beyond what the
ruling was. This was right then, instantaneously.

I agree with Ms. Shanahan on challenging your ruling.
The Chair: Thank you.

Mr. Desjarlais, you had a point of order.

Just one second, Mr. Brock. Mr. Desjarlais is next.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: Mr. Chair, I believe this is something we
can overcome together as a committee. It's a very easy procedural
issue that has obviously taken place here, and I respectfully ask that
we get unanimous consent from everyone here to allow the five
minutes of questioning that the members are entitled to. It's just a
matter of equivalency.

I know if I was the member who was cut off from my question‐
ing of a witness, just like if I was a Conservative member, a Bloc
member or a Liberal member, that wouldn't be procedurally fair to
disallow time for questions. I think it's very reasonable to suggest
that if we can just allow the five minutes with the Ethics Commis‐
sioner, they can ask their questions, and then we can return to the
debate on this motion.

I hope that it's fair and that members can understand that this
isn't my attempt to try to delay this any longer. Maybe we can get
unanimous consent to just do that. Chair, maybe you can seek unan‐
imous consent, and maybe members could just calm down a little
and allow the five minutes, and we could continue our meeting to
get to the debate on the motion. I think that's the most reasonable
and the most fair thing to do without descending into chaos.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Desjarlais.

I have one more point of order from Mr. Brock.

I see hands going up, but if those are points of order, just say so
because I'm differentiating those from a speaking list.

Mr. Brock, you had a point of order.

● (1240)

Mr. Larry Brock: I'm withdrawing, Chair. Thank you.

The Chair: Ms. Shanahan, you had had a point of order.

Mrs. Brenda Shanahan: I appreciate Mr. Desjarlais' comments.
I believe the commissioner has gone, but I want to point out that I
was also challenging the decision that the motion was in order be‐
cause indeed it's not the topic of the meeting. It's not on notice, and
it's been....

The Chair: First of all, I'm going to address Mr. Desjarlais'
point, because I think it's the most relevant and speaks to the good
work of this committee.

Unfortunately, it's very difficult for me to do that because as mo‐
tions come up, they have to be dealt with. Technically, you're right.
I could seek UC on that, but that also opens up the possibility of
other manoeuvres coming up as well. That is not how we've operat‐
ed in the past. We deal with motions as they come up.

Ms. Shanahan is challenging the chair. That is non-debatable. I'm
going to ask the clerk for a roll call on that to either sustain my rul‐
ing, which is a “yes” vote, or overturn it, which is a “no” vote. If
you sustain it, we will turn the floor back over to Mr. Perkins to
continue the debate on the motion he has put forward.
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Clerk, it's over to you, please.
Mr. Blake Desjarlais: On a point of clarification, is the chal‐

lenge on whether the motion is in order?
The Chair: Yes. That's correct.
Mr. Blake Desjarlais: It's not whether we're agreeing to the mo‐

tion.
The Chair: Correct. It's just whether the motion is in order to be

debated now.

Mr. Blake Desjarlais: I see.

(Ruling of the chair overturned: nays 6; yeas 4)

The Chair: It is defeated.

I have excused the witness.

This meeting is adjourned.

 







Published under the authority of the Speaker of
the House of Commons

Publié en conformité de l’autorité
du Président de la Chambre des communes

SPEAKER’S PERMISSION PERMISSION DU PRÉSIDENT
The proceedings of the House of Commons and its commit‐
tees are hereby made available to provide greater public ac‐
cess. The parliamentary privilege of the House of Commons
to control the publication and broadcast of the proceedings of
the House of Commons and its committees is nonetheless re‐
served. All copyrights therein are also reserved.

Les délibérations de la Chambre des communes et de ses
comités sont mises à la disposition du public pour mieux le
renseigner. La Chambre conserve néanmoins son privilège
parlementaire de contrôler la publication et la diffusion des
délibérations et elle possède tous les droits d’auteur sur
celles-ci.

Reproduction of the proceedings of the House of Commons
and its committees, in whole or in part and in any medium,
is hereby permitted provided that the reproduction is accu‐
rate and is not presented as official. This permission does not
extend to reproduction, distribution or use for commercial
purpose of financial gain. Reproduction or use outside this
permission or without authorization may be treated as copy‐
right infringement in accordance with the Copyright Act. Au‐
thorization may be obtained on written application to the Of‐
fice of the Speaker of the House of Commons.

Il est permis de reproduire les délibérations de la Chambre
et de ses comités, en tout ou en partie, sur n’importe quel sup‐
port, pourvu que la reproduction soit exacte et qu’elle ne soit
pas présentée comme version officielle. Il n’est toutefois pas
permis de reproduire, de distribuer ou d’utiliser les délibéra‐
tions à des fins commerciales visant la réalisation d'un profit
financier. Toute reproduction ou utilisation non permise ou
non formellement autorisée peut être considérée comme une
violation du droit d’auteur aux termes de la Loi sur le droit
d’auteur. Une autorisation formelle peut être obtenue sur
présentation d’une demande écrite au Bureau du Président
de la Chambre des communes.

Reproduction in accordance with this permission does not
constitute publication under the authority of the House of
Commons. The absolute privilege that applies to the proceed‐
ings of the House of Commons does not extend to these per‐
mitted reproductions. Where a reproduction includes briefs
to a committee of the House of Commons, authorization for
reproduction may be required from the authors in accor‐
dance with the Copyright Act.

La reproduction conforme à la présente permission ne con‐
stitue pas une publication sous l’autorité de la Chambre. Le
privilège absolu qui s’applique aux délibérations de la Cham‐
bre ne s’étend pas aux reproductions permises. Lorsqu’une
reproduction comprend des mémoires présentés à un comité
de la Chambre, il peut être nécessaire d’obtenir de leurs au‐
teurs l’autorisation de les reproduire, conformément à la Loi
sur le droit d’auteur.

Nothing in this permission abrogates or derogates from the
privileges, powers, immunities and rights of the House of
Commons and its committees. For greater certainty, this per‐
mission does not affect the prohibition against impeaching or
questioning the proceedings of the House of Commons in
courts or otherwise. The House of Commons retains the right
and privilege to find users in contempt of Parliament if a re‐
production or use is not in accordance with this permission.

La présente permission ne porte pas atteinte aux privilèges,
pouvoirs, immunités et droits de la Chambre et de ses
comités. Il est entendu que cette permission ne touche pas
l’interdiction de contester ou de mettre en cause les délibéra‐
tions de la Chambre devant les tribunaux ou autrement. La
Chambre conserve le droit et le privilège de déclarer l’utilisa‐
teur coupable d’outrage au Parlement lorsque la reproduc‐
tion ou l’utilisation n’est pas conforme à la présente permis‐
sion.

Also available on the House of Commons website at the
following address: https://www.ourcommons.ca

Aussi disponible sur le site Web de la Chambre des
communes à l’adresse suivante :

https://www.noscommunes.ca


